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STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission : 
On Its Own Motion : 
 : 
Vs. : 
 : 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke   :   05-0341 
Company. :  
 : 
 : 
Citation for alleged violation of Commission :    
Rules regarding leakage surveys. : 
 
 

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE STAFF OF 
THE ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

 
 Pursuant to 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.800, Staff of the Illinois Commerce 

Commission (“Staff”), by and through its attorney, hereby files its Initial Brief in the 

above-captioned proceeding. 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
A. Procedural History 

 On June 2, 2005, the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission” or “ICC”) 

issued an Order initiating this proceeding to determine whether the Peoples Gas Light 

and Coke Company (“Peoples”) has failed to comply with the inspection requirement at 

49 CFR §192.723(b)(2) in that Peoples failed to conduct leakage surveys with leak 

detector equipment within the five year time span mandated by the federal rule 

incorporated as the Commission’s rule, and to determine whether civil penalties should 

be imposed pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Pipeline Safety Act (“Act”).   
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 Pursuant to proper legal notice, a pre-hearing conference was held on June 22, 

2005, before a duly authorized Administrative Law Judge of the Commission at its 

offices in Chicago, Illinois.  Citizens Utility Board filed a petition for leave to intervene.  

The City of Chicago entered an appearance.  An evidentiary hearing was held on 

November 8, 2005.  Appearances were entered by counsel on behalf of Peoples, the 

City of Chicago, and Staff.  Peoples presented the testimony of Edward Doerk, Vice 

President of Operations.  Staff presented the testimony of Rex Evans, Program 

Manager of the Pipeline Safety Program in the Energy Division of the Commission.  At 

the conclusion of the hearing on November 8, 2005, the matter was marked HEARD 

and TAKEN. 

B. Legal Standards 

 The Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (“Act”) (220 ILCS 20/1 et seq.) requires the 

Commission to: 

...adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the transportation 
of gas and for pipeline facilities.  Such rules shall be at least as inclusive, 
as stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety standards adopted 
by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act.  220 ILCS 20/3. 

 
At 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590, “Minimum Safety Standards for Transportation of Gas and for 

Gas Pipeline Facilities” (“Part 590”) the Commission incorporated by reference the 

applicable federal rules in 1977.  Part 590 has been updated biennially since then to adopt 

any amendments.  Included in these adopted standards is the requirement for leakage 

surveys, to wit: 

A leakage survey with leak detector equipment must be conducted outside 
business districts as frequently as necessary, but at least once every 5 
calendar years at intervals not exceeding 63 months...  49 CFR 
§192.723(b)(2). 
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The Act requires that: 

Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or 
operates pipeline facilities shall: 
(1)  at all times after the date any applicable safety standard established 
under this Act takes effect comply with the requirements of such standard.  
220 ILCS 20/6 
 

Penalties are provided for in Section 7 which provides in relevant part: 

(a) Any person violating paragraph (a) of Section 6 of this Act or any rule or 
order issued under this Act is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed the 
maximum penalties established by Section 60122(a)(1) of Title 49 of the 
United States Code for each day the violation persists. 
 

The maximum penalty established by 49 USC §60122(a)(1) is $100,000 for each violation.  

This section also provides that a separate violation occurs for each day the violation 

continues and that the maximum civil penalty for a related series of violations is 

$1,000,000. 

 The Illinois Pipeline Safety Act provides guidance for the Commission in 

determining the amount of the penalty.  Section 7(b) provides inter alia: 

...the Commission shall consider the appropriateness of the penalty to the 
size of the business of the person charged, the gravity of the violation, and 
the good faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance, 
after notification of a violation... 

  

II. FACTS 
 
 It is undisputed that Peoples is and has been in violation of Commission rules 

regarding inside leakage surveys since 1999.  Peoples was notified by letter on January 

10, 2000 that it was in violation of the federal and state requirement that leakage 

surveys be conducted on all indoor service lines at least once every five calendar years.  

(See Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. C)  The Company responded on March 24, 2000 with its 

proposal to enhance its leakage survey program.  According to the Company’s 
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proposal, it had completed 87,899 inside residential leakage inspections in 1999 and 

285,663 more inspections would be required over the next four years.  (Id.)  Peoples’ 

proposal included the resolution that it would schedule and complete 75,000 inside 

leakage surveys each year.   

 Peoples did not fulfill its commitment.  Peoples completed 20,755 inside leakage 

surveys in 2000; 45,883 leakage surveys in 2001; 36,521 leakage surveys in 2002; 

44,434 inside leakage surveys in 2003, and 86,746 inside leakage surveys in 2004.  

(Staff Cross Ex. 1, Ex. A, p. 2)  During the same time period, Peoples was failing to 

complete, and thus rolling over, due and overdue inside leakage surveys at the rate of  

65,754 in 2000, 60,217 in 2001, 60,282 in 2002, 68,936 in 2003, and 87,762 in 2004.  

(Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. D)  

III. PENALTY ASSESSMENT 
 
 The Gas Pipeline Safety Act provides that owners or operators of pipeline 

facilities who fail to comply with applicable safety standards established under the Act are 

subject to a civil penalty for each day that the violation persists.  (220 ILCS 20/6)  The 

maximum penalty is set at $100,000 for each violation, and capped at $1,000,000 for a 

related series of violations.   

 Three factors should be considered when imposing a penalty.  First, the size of 

the penalty should be appropriate to the size of the entity being fined.  Second, the 

gravity of the violation should be considered.  Finally, the good faith, on the part of the 

entity charged, in attempting to achieve compliance after notification of the violation 

should be taken into account.  (See 220 ILCS 20/7(b)) 

 4

Nicor Gas Ex. 3.0 
Attachment M 
Docket No. 09-0301



05-0341 
 

A. Peoples’ Size 

 Peoples is a large natural gas distribution company.  Its net utility operating 

income was $58,682,020 in 2004.  Peoples ranks number 14, among natural gas 

distribution companies in the United States, in terms of numbers of customers and 

revenue.  (Staff Ex. 1.0, p. 6)  A penalty of $1,000,000 is appropriate to Peoples’ size. 

B. Gravity of the Violation 

 Peoples’ failure to complete the required inside residential leakage surveys over 

a nearly 6 year period is a grave violation.  Leakage surveys are critical to ensuring the 

safety and integrity of natural gas distribution systems.  (Staff Ex. 1.0, p. 3)  The surveys 

give the owners of natural gas facilities the opportunity to identify and take corrective 

action to address leaks which may otherwise go undetected or unrecognized.  (Id. and 

Staff Ex. 2.0, p. 3)  Gas leaks can result in explosions or fires causing loss of life or 

property.  (Staff Ex. 1.0, p. 3)   

 The seriousness of a gas leak is recognized in Peoples’ Gas Service Department 

Manual, Section 11.  It states: 

Leak investigation is one of the most important phases of gas service 
work.  It must be carried out promptly and properly to ensure the safety 
and maintain the confidence of the public in the use of gas... Natural gas 
will burn rapidly when it reaches a concentration between 5% and 15% in 
air; therefore, any accumulation must be considered hazardous.  (See 
Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. A, Section 11, p. 1)   

Section 11 further emphasizes the dangerousness of gas leaks in Section 11.4 Ten 

Rules of Gas Leak Safety (“Ten Rules”): 

These rules have been developed to protect the customer and the 
employee from injury and possible damage to property.  Employees 
should always be conscious of these rules when investigating a leak. 
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1. Never look for a gas leak with a match or open flame. 
2. Don’t smoke where gas is suspected of escaping. 
3. Make sure there are no sources of ignition. 
4. Ventilate premises and turn-off the gas supply to the leak. 
5. Do not knowingly leave a gas leak. 
6. There can be more than one leak. 
7. Gas can travel some distance in its escape from the source of the 
leak. 
8. A gas leak can be masked by other odors.  Gas odorant can fade 
under unusual conditions. 
9. Trust your sense of smell, but also recognize its limitations. 
10. All flammable gases or liquids can be dangerous. 
(Id., Section 11.4, p. 2) 

The concerns addressed in the Ten Rules apply equally to all leaks. It is irrelevant 

whether the leak is one for which the Company receives a customer complaint, or 

whether the leak is discovered by an employee on the premises for other work, or 

whether the leak is discovered during a safety survey.  (See Id., Section 11.2, p. 1)  

Natural gas is an explosive and dangerous substance.  There can be no doubt that it is 

in the interest of public safety for natural gas leaks to be identified and repaired as 

promptly as possible. 

 Since January 2000, Peoples has found 2,688 leaks during residential inside 

leakage surveys.  (Staff Ex. 2.0, p. 2)  Thus, in the last five years, there have been 

2,688 instances in which a gas leak existed in someone’s residence and was 

discovered solely due to the state and federally mandated inside leakage surveys.  

Before the leaks were discovered, no one could know whether the leaking gas would 

reach the concentration level of between 5% and 15%, the explosive concentration.  

Similarly, residents could not have been aware of the possible consequences of 
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smoking or flipping on a light switch.  Happily, this record contains no evidence of any 

explosions or loss of life or property.  

 However, it is clear from the record that explosions and fires are predictable 

consequences of gas leaks and, loss of life or property are likely consequences of 

residential explosions and fires.  Peoples Gas Service Department Manual is correct; 

any accumulation of natural gas must be considered hazardous.  Peoples’ failure to 

conduct the required inside leakage surveys at least every five years is a grave violation 

which could result in grim consequences.   

C. Good Faith 

 Peoples has not exhibited good faith in attempting to achieve compliance with the 

requirement to conduct inside leakage surveys.  According to Section 7, the time period 

in which an entity’s good faith is to be measured is the time “after notification of the 

violation.”  (220 ILCS 20/7(b))  Thus, Peoples’ actions from January 2000, when it was 

notified of the violation, to the present must be considered in making a determination 

about Peoples’ good faith.   

 In this proceeding, the burden is upon Peoples to show that it acted in good faith 

to achieve compliance.  Good faith is not defined in the Gas Pipeline Safety Act, or in 

the Public Utilities Act.  Good faith is defined in the Commercial Code:  "’Good faith’ 

means honesty in fact and the observance of reasonable commercial standards of fair 

dealing.”  (810 ILCS 5/9-102)  According to Black’s Law Dictionary good faith means:  

...an intangible and abstract quality with no technical meaning or statutory 
definition, and it encompasses, among other things, an honest belief, the 
absence of malice and the absence of design to defraud or to seek an 
unconscionable advantage, and an individual’s personal good faith is [sic] 
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concept of his own mind and inner spirit and, therefore, may not 
conclusively be determined by his protestations alone ... Honesty of 
intention, and freedom from knowledge of circumstances which ought to 
put the holder upon inquiry ... In common usage this term is ordinarily 
used to describe that state of mind denoting honesty of purpose, freedom 
from intention to defraud, and generally speaking, means being faithful to 
one’s duty or obligations.  (Black’s Law Dictionary, 5th Ed., 1979, pp. 623-
624 citations omitted) 
 

The Seventh Circuit, reviewing good faith in the context of bankruptcy proceedings, has 

stated: 

In evaluating good faith necessary for the confirmation of a Chapter 13 
plan, this court has refused to adopt a specific test or definition of good 
faith. Instead, this court has held that good faith is a term incapable of 
precise definition, and, therefore, the good faith inquiry is a fact intensive 
determination better left to the discretion of the bankruptcy court.  In re: 
Love, 957 F.2d 1350, 1355 (1992) 
 

 There is wisdom in the Seventh Circuit’s refusal to adopt a specific test and the 

adoption, instead, of a fact intensive analysis.  As suggested by Black’s good faith is a 

state of mind and the existence of it cannot be “determined by ... protestations alone”.  

(Black’s)  Peoples has professed that it acted in good faith.  But, the good faith analysis 

should look behind the statements Peoples made in this docket.  The inquiry should 

consider whether Peoples acted with “honesty of intention, and freedom from 

knowledge of circumstances which ought to have put [it] upon inquiry”.  (Id.)  In making 

the good faith determination, the Commission should weigh whether Peoples’ actions 

were “faithful to [its] duty or obligation”.  (Id.) Peoples had the opportunity in this docket 

to provide evidence to support its protestations of good faith.  Facts in the record in this 

docket provide sufficient information for the Commission to make a decision about 

whether or not Peoples acted in good faith. 
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 It is uncontested that Peoples did not bring itself into compliance with the indoor 

leakage survey requirement in over five years between the time Peoples was notified of 

the violation (January 2000) and the May 20, 2005 filing of a Staff Report which resulted 

in the initiation of this docket.  In fact, at the November 8 evidentiary hearing of this 

matter, there were still over 16,500 residences where the leakage surveys had not yet 

been completed within the five year time frame.  (Tr., p. 16) 

 It is revealing to review the numbers of inside leakage surveys completed by 

Peoples during the relevant time frame.  In the year 2000, the year immediately 

following the notification that it was in violation of the requirement, Peoples completed 

28,333 inside leakage surveys.1  (Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. D)  Peoples had 69,780 inside 

leakage surveys which were past due that year. (Id.) An additional 24,307 inside 

leakage surveys came due in 2000. (Id.)  In other words, in order to come into 

compliance with the requirement, Peoples would have had to complete over 94,000 

leakage surveys in 2000.  Peoples completed only 28,333 surveys (Id.), although that 

same year Peoples made the commitment to Staff that it would complete 75,000 inside 

leakage surveys per year.  At the end of 2000, Peoples had completed only about 4,000 

more inspections than came due.   

 There were 65,754 past due leakage surveys at the beginning of 2001.  Another 

30,198 surveys came due that year.  In 2001, Peoples completed 35,735 inside leakage 

surveys or only about 5,000 more than the number of residences that came due to be 

inspected that year.  (Id.) 

                                            
1 References to leakage surveys are to past due or due leakage surveys. 
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 At the end of 2001, 60,217 overdue leakage surveys were rolled over to 2002.  In 

2002, Peoples completed 20,676 surveys, or even fewer than the number of residences 

(20,741) that came due for surveys.  (Id.) 

 Sixty thousand two hundred eighty two overdue leakage surveys rolled over into 

2003.  Another 33,819 leakage surveys came due that year and, Peoples completed 

only 25,165 inspections.  Thus at the end of 2003, Peoples was further behind (68,936) 

in conducting the surveys than it had been at the beginning of the year (60,282). (Id.) 

 Peoples entered the year 2004 with 68,936 past due leakage surveys.  An 

additional 71,123 surveys came due that year.  Although Peoples completed 52,297 

inside leakage surveys, it ended the year with 87,762 over due leakage surveys, nearly 

twenty thousand more than the number with which it began the year.  (Id.) 

 Thus, at the beginning of 2005, a full five years after Peoples had been notified 

that it was in violation of the inside leakage survey requirement, Peoples was further 

behind on completing leakage surveys than it had been when the notice was originally 

sent in 2000.  Another 43,021 leakage surveys came due in 2005.  In the first quarter of 

2005, as of April 3, Peoples had conducted only 9,895 leakage surveys. (Id.) However, 

subsequent to the filing of the Staff Report and the initiation of this docket on June 2, 

2005, Peoples began making great strides in completing the required inside surveys.  

As of August 18, 2005, Peoples had completed 70,000 inside leakage surveys.  

(Respondent’s Ex. A, p. 5)  On September 14, 2005, the Company estimated that it 

would have 20,000 overdue inside leakage surveys by the end of the year. 

(Respondent’s Ex. B, p. 3)  As discussed above, as of the November 8 evidentiary 
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hearing, Peoples had slightly more than 16,500 overdue inside leakage surveys.  (Tr., p. 

16)   

 The average of the annual leakage survey inspections, conducted by Peoples 

from 2000 through 2004, was only 32,441.  (Staff Ex. 1.0, p. 5)  In order to achieve 

normal compliance, Peoples would need to average around 60,000 inspections each 

year.  Peoples had committed in 2000 to conducting 75,000 leakage survey inspections 

annually.  In 1999, Peoples conducted 87,899 of the inspections.  The 32,441 

inspections they averaged during the 2000 through 2004 time frame does not even 

come close to meeting the federal requirement on a going forward basis, let alone the 

obligations to make the inspections for which they had fallen behind.   

 These facts lead to the conclusion that from January of 2000 through April of 

2005, Peoples was not acting in good faith in attempting to achieve compliance with the 

inside leakage survey regulations.  Had Peoples been acting in good faith, Peoples 

would have recognized after only completing 28,333 leakage surveys in 2000, rather 

than the promised 75,000, that it had to take more aggressive action towards 

completing the surveys in 2001.  But, year after year Peoples failed to complete the 

number of surveys that reasonably would have been necessary to bring it into 

compliance with the regulation.   

 In 1999, prior to being notified of the violation, Peoples was able to complete 

87,899 surveys.  During the entire 5 year period that Peoples was on notice of the 

violation before this docket was initiated Peoples did not match the number of surveys 

completed in 1999.  Not only did Peoples not demonstrate good faith in attempting to 

eliminate the survey backlog, it did less work in that area than it had done in the year 
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prior to the initial violation notification.  Peoples had the continuing opportunity, and 

duty, throughout the days, weeks, and months of each year from January 2000 through 

May 2005 to change its tactics regarding notifying customers of the necessity of 

allowing access for leakage surveys, and failed for that entire period to demonstrate 

good faith.  If anything, it demonstrated contempt for the obligation it had to care for the 

safety of the public and its customers.   

 The record reflects a distinct change in the tempo of leakage survey completions 

after April of 2005.  The only apparent change in circumstances was the June, 2005 

initiation of this proceeding.  This leads to the conclusion that Peoples was not 

wholehearted in its attempts to complete leakage surveys until the Commission 

commenced an investigation and Peoples faced the prospect of a fine.  In sum, the only 

conclusion that can be drawn from the record evidence is that rather than demonstrating 

good faith, over the past 5 years, 11 months Peoples has been dilatory in its attempt to 

achieve compliance with the inside leakage survey requirement.   

D. Recommended Penalty 

 Based upon the evidence in this docket, Staff recommends that the Commission 

impose the maximum fine allowed by law.  Since before January 2000, Peoples has 

been, and continues to be, in violation of the leakage survey requirement, adopted by 

the Commission in Part 590.  A $1 million dollar fine is not disproportionate to the size of 

Peoples, which had net utility operating income in excess of $58 million in 2004.   

 Leakage surveys are critical to ensuring the safety and integrity of the natural gas 

distribution systems as they provide an opportunity to identify and take corrective action 

on otherwise unreported leaks.  Any accumulation of natural gas is hazardous as it is 
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explosive when it reaches a concentration level between 5% and 15%.  Thus, although 

to date no explosions have resulted from the failure to complete the surveys, 

undetected leaks could result in explosions and consequent loss of life and property.  

Peoples’ ongoing failure to complete the inside leakage surveys, is a grave violation of 

the minimum safety standards adopted by the Commission.  Staff’s recommendation of 

a $20 penalty for each meter that was past due for a leakage survey as of January 1, 

2005 is reasonable in light of the gravity of the violation. 

 Peoples has failed utterly to demonstrate good faith in its attempt to achieve 

compliance with the indoor leakage survey requirement after receiving the January 

2000 notice.  Peoples was aware that in order for there to be a reasonable likelihood of 

coming into compliance with the requirement within a four year period, it would be 

necessary to complete about 75,000 leakage surveys per year.  Peoples failed to 

complete 75,000 leakage surveys in any of the following five years.  Peoples only began 

to make significant progress towards coming into compliance with the requirement 

subsequent to the June 2005 initiation of this proceeding.  Peoples has not made a 

good faith attempt to comply with the inside lead survey requirement, thus the 

recommended $1 million penalty should not be reduced. 

 
IV. CONCLUSION 

 
 

 WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the Staff of the Illinois Commerce 

Commission respectfully requests that Commission: 
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1.  Find that Peoples is in violation of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 which adopts 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2) as the minimum safety standards for the 

transportation of gas and for gas pipeline facilities; 

2. Find that Peoples gas has been in violation of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 

since January 10, 2000; 

3. Find that Peoples is a large natural gas distribution company with net utility 

operating income of $58,682,020 in 2004; 

4. Find that Peoples failure to comply with 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 (adopting 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2)) is a grave violation of the safety standards; 

5. Find that Peoples has failed to demonstrate that it acted in good faith in 

attempting to achieve compliance with 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 (adopting 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2)); 

6. Order that Peoples shall be charged a penalty of $1,000,000; and  

7. Allow such other and further relief, as this Commission deems appropriate.  

       Respectfully submitted,    

        
       __________________________ 
       Janis Von Qualen 
       Counsel for the Staff of the Illinois 
December 9, 2005     Commerce Commission 
 
JANIS E. VON QUALEN 
Office of General Counsel 
Illinois Commerce Commission 
527 East Capitol Avenue 
Springfield, IL  62701 
Phone:  (217)785-3402 
Fax:  (217)524-8928 
jvonqual@icc.illinois.gov 
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